
  Approved 06/06/2016   
 
 

City Council Budget Hearing                                        April 25, 2016                     Page 1 of 7 

MINUTES 
ST. CLAIR SHORES CITY COUNCIL BUDGET HEARING 

TUESDAY, APRIL 25, 2016 
 
City Council Budget Hearing, held in the Council Chambers, located at 27600 Jefferson Circle Dr., St. Clair Shores, 
Michigan.   
 
Present:  Mayor Kip Walby, Council Members Peter Accica, John Caron, Ronald Frederick, Peter Rubino 

and Candice Rusie 
 
Absent:  Council Member Chris Vitale 
 
Also Present:   City Manager Michael Smith, Assistant City Manager Bill Gambill, City Clerk Mary Kotowski, City 

Planner Liz Koto, Court Administrator Carolyn Povich, Directors Bryan Babcock, Greg Corless, 
Doug Haag, Mary Jane D’Herde, Chris Rayes, Fire Chief George Morehouse, Judge Mark 
Fratarcangeli, Police Chief Todd Woodcox and City Attorney Robert Ihrie 

 
 
1. CALL TO ORDER, ROLL CALL AND PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
 
Mayor Walby called the meeting to order at 6:00 p.m.  Ms. Kotowski, City Clerk, called the role with a quorum present 
and noted Mr. Vitale asked to be excused.   
 
Moved by Caron, seconded by Frederick to excuse Council Member Vitale. 
 
Ayes: All – 6 
Absent: Vitale 
 
The Pledge of Allegiance was said by all.   
 
Mr. Smith spoke about how challenging this budget was as a result of a decline in revenue over the last several 
years.  We have been making changes in the budget format to better track departments and expenses such as 
moving Boards & Commissions and Communications into their own budgets.  We have done many one-time fixes, 
and we have delayed capital spending.  There is over $2 million in capital we are recommending in this budget.  The 
issues we are presenting to Council need to be addressed sooner than later.  If these issues are not addressed, we 
need to come up with alternative plans.  
 
Mayor Walby agreed that this is the toughest budget in his 16 years.  These are not easy decisions, but they have to 
be made. 
 
GENERAL FUND REVENUES 
 
Mr. Haag explained that the revenue for General Fund indicates property taxes went down $118,000, but that is not 
entirely correct.  We amended this year’s budget by $307,000 for personal property taxes reimbursement from the 
State (correcting for 2 prior years).  When you factor that in, we did see a real increase of property taxes of $84,000.  
Under Headlee and Proposal A we are restricted to a millage increase not to exceed either 5% or the Consumer 
Price Index (CPI).  We will be in a rollback situation as far as millage rates go.  We have projected a rollback of 
somewhere between .98 and .99.   
 
He also explained that the Constitutional Sales Tax may look odd.  That is because in last year’s budget we picked 
up a number from the State’s website of $4.8 million for this year’s budget.  When looking at next year’s budget, the 
number dropped to $4,558,000.  This looks like it decreased, but when we adjust it with a final projection from the 
State, it ends up being an increase of about $178,000 or 3.9%. 
 
Mayor Walby asked about the sidewalk program charges. 
 
Mr. Smith stated that the sidewalk replacement program was put back in fiscal year 2017 which is what we have 
historically done. 
 
Mr. Caron suggested adding a line breaking out the proceeds from the sales of the tax foreclosure homes in the fund 
balances so it is not buried on page 1.  We are roughly at $750,000 which is being hidden in the end designated 
column. 
 
Ms. Rusie pointed out that we are still using the acronym EVIP which is no longer used and would like it corrected.  



  Approved 06/06/2016   
 
 

City Council Budget Hearing                                        April 25, 2016                     Page 2 of 7 

COURT 
 
Mr. Haag said it is now CVTRS.   
 
Ms. Rusie asked about the decrease projected for grants.  How did we come up with that projection?  Mr. Haag 
stated it was decreased because one grant was actually cancelled. 
 
Mr. Smith said that there will be an increase in fringe benefits which will be a recurring theme in this budget process 
for all departments for a number of reasons.  There is an increase in the required contribution for the Defined Benefit 
Pension System primary because of assumptions made for valuation of pension and changes in the mortality tables.   
 
Also, there was an increase in the hard cap of 2.6% required by the State of Michigan for health insurance.  Another 
issue was that we were being charged premiums on retirees who were not using us as their primary insurance but we 
were being charged as their primary insurance.  This has been adjusted.  As a result, you will see an offset in general 
government. 
 
Judge Fratarcangeli and Carolyn Povich, 40th District Court Administrator, were present to discuss their budget.  Ms. 
Povich explained they have started a new program which is a special court and no one else in Michigan has this.  It is 
specifically for persons “driving on suspended”.  Also, they have applied for a grant for a “prescription drug” court.  
For revenue, garnishments have taken off and generated a lot of revenue.  Code enforcement has a great program 
for blight.  These things all help the community. 
 
Judge Fratarcangeli said they continue trying to do as much as possible with little resources.  They are trying to 
develop these specialty courts and programs without using any City funding. 
 
Garnishments and collections are up.  There is a great deal of effort going into these programs and it is very time 
consuming.  They have made a concerted effort to focus on collections.   
 
Mayor Walby asked why there is a bigger deficit if we are collecting more funds.  Mr. Smith explained that 
garnishments are money we have coming to us, but we are not necessarily receiving the funds.  The amounts 
collected vary from year to year.   
 
Mayor Walby stated that our goal with these programs is to breakeven.  Mr. Smith said he agrees, but in this budget 
we do not.  We can look at an increase in fines and fees.  Judge Fratarcangeli said this is somewhat cyclical, but we 
do have to be aware of what costs we are putting out there.  We will look to make sure that we are running as lean as 
possible.  Staffing needs training which causes delays.  We also had growing pains getting into the new building, but 
a lot of those costs should not be there next year.  
 
Ms. Rusie asked about the online access to court records.  Judge Fratarcangeli said that this is a statewide initiative 
and Warren is piloting it currently.  It will be a long process and expensive.  If the State mandates it, we would hope it 
would not go unfunded.   
 
Mr. Frederick asked how much are we paying on the Court building bond.  Judge Fratarcangeli said they are covering 
costs sufficiently.  There is plenty of money in that fund. 
 
FIRE 
 
Mr. Smith introduced Fire Chief Morehouse and Battalion Chief Chris Krotche.  He explained there will be the 
increase in benefits, and much of that is for pension costs.  There is a 2% increase across the board which was 
contractual.  There is also a 3% increase that gets new hires up to the top of the scale over five years. 
 
Chief Morehouse went over the line items in the Fire budget that had increases.   
 
The computer replacement account rents are adjusted on an annual basis by department.  It is time to upgrade the 
computers for the Fire Department.  This happens to coincide with the Fire Department’s change over to CLEMIS.  
The Police Department currently uses CLEMIS.    
 
Mr. Smith explained the decrease in vehicle rentals.  In the past, we had a traditional motor pool, and we factored in 
depreciation.  Last year, we did away with that system.  Now, each department is charged when they have to 
purchase a vehicle.  Vehicle rent covers maintenance, fuel and insurance.  Next year they will change “motor pool 
rent” to “vehicle maintenance”. 



  Approved 06/06/2016   
 
 

City Council Budget Hearing                                        April 25, 2016                     Page 3 of 7 

FIRE (Cont’d): 
 
Chief Morehouse explained that last year during budget sessions they only requested $3,750 for a $13,500 thermal 
imaging camera.  This was because they thought the quote of $13,500 was for three cameras, but that is the cost for 
only one camera.  They are asking again this year to purchase the cameras.  
 
The replacement engine for their fleet would cost $470,000.  Mr. Smith clarified that Engine 5 (E-5) is a backup piece 
of equipment, and that is the piece of equipment we would sell off.  They are planning to move E-3 from the front end 
to back up and replace that front end vehicle.  E-3 has been in twice for a frame fracture.  
 
Chief Morehouse added that our frontline engines are E-1 which is a 2000, E-2 which is a 2008 and E-3 which is a 
1996.  Our backups are a 1996 and a 1987.  The Quint is a 1990.  We had Alpha 3 put on a new chassis one year 
ago; Alpha 1 was just put on a new chassis.  We are also requesting to do Alpha 2 which is a 2009 with over 160,000 
miles.   
   
Mayor Walby asked how we are doing on collecting ambulance fees.  Mr. Smith said there was a meeting a couple 
weeks ago with Intermedix.  We still do not have all the money.  There is a lag between when the amount is billed 
and when it is collected.  In July, they collected nothing because of the lag of being a new vendor.  We are doing a 
closer audit of what is being billed.  Medicare, Medicaid and insurance companies pay different amounts, and we are 
looking at that.  The change in coding has caused problems as well.  When the audit comes in we should have $1.5 
million collected.   
 
Mayor Walby stated that he cannot approve $945,000 in capital spending with the budget gap we have at this time. 
 
Mr. Rubino asked if the Fire Marshall vehicle is used for emergencies.  Chief Morehouse said she does investigate 
active fires as well as arson.  We have to secure the scene until the Fire Marshall arrives, so this does hold up other 
personnel. 
 
Mr. Rubino confirmed the North station roof is leaking.  He asked how many bay doors there are.  Chief Morehouse 
said there are 11 bay doors that need to be redone. 
   
Mr. Rubino pointed out there is 9,801 hours of overtime and asked at what point in time it makes sense to hire more 
people.  Mr. Smith will provide Council with a breakdown of what the overtime hours are comprised of, including 
FLSA and 54 hour work schedule, for Fire.   
 
Mr. Frederick asked about adding an inspector position.  Maybe this job could be a combination of duties.  We have 
to prioritize this spending so it makes sense. 
 
Mr. Caron agreed the cost for the two vehicles are large costs, but we cannot allow the front line to go down. 
 
Mr. Smith stated we should not be sending out emergency vehicles and firetrucks with cracked frames.  If we promise 
to have 50 employees working in the Fire Department, they should have the proper equipment to work with.   
 
Ms. Rusie asked when we will know about the grant for the Quint.  Battalion Chief Krotche explained the process just 
started this week, and it takes about 2 to 3 months. 
 
Mr. Smith stated we will reprioritize the Fire Department capital items.  The Quint should remain in if we get the grant.  
E-5 and A-2 we need to do, the multi-story packs and hose need to be done because they are dated equipment, the 
bay doors can be reduced by one door and spread out and the roof needs to be done.  We will look at repurposing 
another vehicle for the Fire Marshall or removing it from the budget.  The thermal imaging camera, the extrication 
equipment, the rescue saw and the drills will be postponed. 
 
POLICE & DLEF 
 
Police Chief Woodcox and Deputy Police Chief Lambert were introduced by Mr. Smith.  The Police budget consists of 
replacement vehicles which is a continuous process.  
 
Chief Woodcox pointed out that their overtime is beyond what is budgeted.  They are currently seven officers down 
as they are struggling to hire top notch people.  On May 9, there are four new officers starting and another two 
starting on June 6.  At that point, they will only be down by one officer.  There will not be full staffing on the roads until 
late August because of the 3 ½ month training process.  Overtime will be up substantially for the remainder of this 
cycle.   
 



  Approved 06/06/2016   
 
 

City Council Budget Hearing                                        April 25, 2016                     Page 4 of 7 

POLICE & DLEF (Cont’d): 
 
Mr. Smith said that there is one reduction in this budget.  The SERESA charge from last year was $808,000, and this 
year is $786,000.  SERESA’s charges have gone up but the portion that St. Clair Shores pays has gone down 
because we annually evaluate the number of calls that each City has for service and reappropriate accordingly. 
 
Mayor Walby asked about the 700 hours that are due to the new traffic program.   
 
Chief Woodcox explained that this is a pilot program with a vehicle that has been outfitted with drug forfeiture money.  
This vehicle does not look like a police vehicle.  Their goal of this program is to target specific areas where people are 
cutting through and causing traffic issues.  In 16 shifts, we issued 115 moving violations, and only five of the people 
ticketed were actually residents.  There was an overtime cost upfront for this.  We had expenditures of $3,400 in 
overtime, and we have collected $8,000 in fines.  This is a net gain of $4,600 to the City.  We would like to make this 
a regular program instead of a pilot program to help improve traffic safety. 
 
Mr. Caron asked why this has to be done under overtime.  Chief Woodcox said that this is currently done under 
overtime because they are understaffed.  In the future it does not have to be done under overtime. 
 
Chief Woodcox said that in the next three to five years almost the entire command staff and approximately six patrol 
officers can retire.  Everyone gives a different notice of retirement. 
 
Mr. Smith said he will get Council a complete report with a breakdown of the Police overtime.   He will work with the 
police to reduce overtime. 
 
Ms. Rusie asked about the reserve officer program.  Chief Woodcox said they are working on this program in the 
event the millage does not go through and staff needs to be cut.  This will not be implemented unless the millage 
does not pass.  He would like to see additional staffing during special events, but they still do not have all the pieces 
to the puzzle. 
 
Ms. Rusie asked about the reduction in radio fees.  Chief Woodcox said that the State has cut their fees for the Police 
department.  Mr. Smith will check to see if the Fire department has the same reduction in fees. 
 
COMMUNITY SERVICES 
 
Mr. Rayes, CDI Director, introduced Mrs. Koto, Block Grant and City Planner.  Mr. Rayes said there are no staffing 
changes in this budget.  Also, it does reflect an increase in fees which will be re-presented to Council at their meeting 
on Monday.  There is no capital in this budget because all services are contracted out.   
 
Mr. Smith noted that all positions were budgeted at the top of the scale in the past.  This year we started budgeting 
actual wages.  This particular budget has one employee who is newer, so wages went down this year.   Now we 
budget so tight that there are fewer things that are down at the end of the year. 
 
Mr. Caron asked about the $50,000 increase in weed control.  Mr. Rayes said that this is for private property cleanup, 
and we charge back for this which is reflected in revenues. 
 
Mr. Caron asked why there was no change for the engineering consultant or construction inspector in this budget.  
Some of that was going to be moved back in-house.  Mr. Smith said we have not had a chance to get that done.  It is 
a matter of him working with Mr. Rayes and Mr. Babcock on this.  There is a plan that they are evaluating, but we are 
not comfortable bringing it back in-house yet.  Based on the cost versus savings, it does not make sense at this time.  
The RFP for this will go out by June 30th.   There is never a good time to make this kind of change.  There will always 
be an overlap. 
 
INFORMATION SYSTEMS 
 
Mr. Corless, Information Systems Director, was present to answer questions regarding his budget.  Mr. Smith stated 
that this department runs with only two people who oversee all the computers in St. Clair Shores.  They also do cell 
phones and regular phones.   
 
Mr. Caron asked where the IT capital of $177,000 is reflected on the balance sheet.  Mr. Smith will provide him with 
an answer tomorrow. 
 
Mr. Caron asked how often the annual replacement program is bid.  Mr. Smith said that it is done through a State bid.  
He will take a look for a blanket purchase order.  
 



  Approved 06/06/2016   
 
 

City Council Budget Hearing                                        April 25, 2016                     Page 5 of 7 

INFORMATION SYSTEMS (Cont’d): 
 
Mr. Caron asked about the $35,000 for a City Hall security system.  Mr. Smith said our current system is not working 
properly and this is to get it back up and running. 
 
Mr. Frederick asked where we have City WiFi.  Mr. Smith explained we have WiFi at City Hall, the Harbor, Blossom 
Heath Park, the Library and Civic Arena.  The cost to provide WiFi at Veterans Memorial Park was cost prohibitive. 
 
DPW ADMINISTRATION 
 
Mr. Babcock, DPW Director, explained that these costs are allocated to different departments.  There are three 
employees and a couple capital outlay projects. 
 
Mr. Smith talked about the salt storage building.  The City owns a lot that has been leased by Gooley Cadillac.  The 
new owner has put us on notice that they no longer want to lease this property.  We would like to build a salt dome at 
this location.  If we had a larger dome, we could store sufficient salt for an entire season.  If we order salt in advance, 
we get a better price.  Also, some neighboring cities would buy from us.  We did run out of salt three years ago.  This 
only happened once, but it took months to get more, and we were putting sand on our streets.  This would come out 
of the General fund, and we can depreciate the building.   
 
Mayor Walby likes the idea, but this is not the year for it.   
 
Mr. Frederick asked what we would do with this lot if we do not build a dome.  Mr. Smith said we would look for 
someone else to lease it. 
 
Ms. Rusie would rather spend the money on an ambulance and fire truck.  Also, we may outprice ourselves by adding 
an administrative fee.  This is not a realistic revenue stream for us.  Mr. Smith said the advantage would be the early 
buy price and the large supply to salt a larger portion of the City when necessary. 
 
Mr. Caron asked why the DPW is still doing 400 plus miscellaneous properties.  Mr. Smith said that the second 
lowest bid was actually higher than us keeping it in-house including replacing equipment.  He will check into it and get 
Council those numbers.  
 
Mr. Caron said this should be contracted out and the fulltime employee repurposed.   
 
SANITATION 
 
Mr. Babcock explained that they have decreased the amount budgeted to purchase garbage carts since we are 
selling less.  There is a hazardous waste collection day on May 14th, and the cost for that is included in this budget. 
 
Mr. Smith said we are aware that there are issues with Rizzo.  There is a meeting scheduled with them regarding 
these issues.   
 
WATER 
 
Mr. Babcock stated this department has 14 employees.  We are essentially done with the water meter replacement 
program.  There are 239 meters left to replace.  Of those, 33 are residential homes that are shutoff.  Many of these 
homes may be a bit more complicated to complete. 
 
Mr. Frederick asked how our water loss is.  Mr. Babcock said we have gone from 19% to 10% in the budget.  Mr. 
Smith said that mismatches make it difficult to measure these losses.  At the end of this year, we will have a better 
picture of what our water loss is.  We continue to fix our water mains to help decrease water loss as well. 
 
Mr. Caron asked about the $190,000 for a dump truck.  How big is the fleet, and how many more need to be 
replaced?  We need two dump trucks for the water department at all times.  These are barebones work horses.  In 
the summer, both sewer and water are out digging every single day.  At the same time they are excavating, they are 
jetting.  The SAW grant is keeping us busy.  We are fixing issues that we have found with the SAW grant.    
 
Mr. Babcock stated that we are doing Finland from Harper to Pare and working our way through that subdivision.  We 
have a lot of problems in that small area.  Next year we should do Broadway to the south.  We looked at the area that 
was adjacent to Finland when we decided what to do.  Mr. Smith said we evaluate where the worst breaks are, and 
do those areas first. 
 
Mr. Rubino requested the Water Capital outlay section separate vehicles and water main repairs. 



  Approved 06/06/2016   
 
 

City Council Budget Hearing                                        April 25, 2016                     Page 6 of 7 

WATER (Cont’d): 
 
Mr. Rubino noted the shutoff service jumped.  Mr. Babcock said we are doing a better job of tracking this.  Mr. Smith 
added that we have the personnel to do it because it was a milder winter and we had fewer breaks. 
 
Mr. Rubino asked about the sinking catch basins on Harper and Greater Mack.  Mr. Babcock said seasonally these 
move up and down.  We are much better than years ago.   
  
Ms. Rusie asked about the performance measures Service Department.  Is that a true number or a typo?  Mr. 
Babcock said it is not a typo.  He will get back to Council with those numbers.  
 
Mr. Caron asked if we ever calculate the volume of what we are buying versus what we are using.  Mr. Babcock said 
there is a utility rate group that meets often regarding that.  Mr. Smith said we know we still have problem meters at 
marinas.  We have gotten better at standardizing the billing period since we have much fewer meters to read, and we 
have the manpower. 
 
SANITARY SEWER 
 
Mr. Babcock said this is one department that has seven employees.  Sanitary and Sewer is one department with two 
pages in this budget.   
 
Mayor Walby said he did not see the 10 Mile Sanitary Relief program in this budget to evaluate.  Mr. Babcock said it 
was a budget amendment to be approved.  We are working on engineering it now.  Mr. Smith said it should have 
been in this budget.  He will look into this issue. 
 
WATER & SEWER RATES 
 
Mr. Babcock said the cost to St. Clair Shores increased by 7.2%, and this was passed along as a fixed rate as well as 
commodity for water and sewer.  An average user of 25 units per quarter will see a 7% increase in their water bill. 
 
Mr. Caron noted that the rate set by Southeast Macomb, Roseville and Eastpointe went from $26 in 2014 to a 
proposed $41 in 2017.  They have a $21 million fund balance.  They added $1.5 million to their reserves last year.  
Why are they hording money while rates are skyrocketing to our residents?  Why do they need that much capital in 
their reserves?  This is a question for the Mayor to ask the SE Macomb Water Authority.   
 
Mr. Babcock added that we are starting to make the payments on the $15 million that Wayne County put into the 
system.  It is $14 million spread over 20 years. 
 
STORM SEWER 
 
Mr. Babcock said the only capital is for replacing the entire system on Joan Street.  We just finished repairing the 
third pump at the Alger station.  A couple other stations may require pump replacements, but nothing this year.  
Seven of the pump stations were repaired in-house last year.   
 
Emergency repairs covers excavations that we have to bring in a contractor to do.  These are usually either too deep 
for us to do or on a canal. 
 
MOTOR POOL 
 
Mr. Babcock stated that this budget has stayed the same.   
 
Mr. Caron asked how the other department heads are kept updated on where they are at with their services so they 
are aware of their budget implications.  Mr. Babcock said they generate a report if someone asks, otherwise this is 
done annually.  Mr. Smith explained that rents are really one year behind.  We use last year’s experience to budget 
for this year.     
 
STREETS 
 
Mr. Babcock said this is a department of 6.5 full time employees and 6 seasonal employees.  There are a number of 
street capital projects.  We received the $100,000 USDA Forestry Grant.  Last fall we planted 205 trees, and this 
spring we will put in the remainder for a total of 377 trees through that grant.   



  Approved 06/06/2016   
 
 

City Council Budget Hearing                                        April 25, 2016                     Page 7 of 7 

STREETS (Cont’d): 
 
Mr. Caron asked about the Martin street reconstruction program shared with the State.  There are still small areas on 
Martin that are bad.  How is that prioritized over 9 Mack Drive?  Mr. Rayes explained that the Martin project initially 
would go all the way to the freeway as part of the TIP in 2009.  We couldn’t go all the way, and it ended just west of 
Little Mack.  We put it back on for the second TIP which was for 2014-2017.   During that timeframe, we did patching 
on 9 Mack Drive, which we thought we had under control.  In the new TIP, we have asked for 9 Mack Drive.  Martin 
gets less truck traffic than 9 Mack Drive.  We will send out an update on this once we know what the outcome is. 
 
COUNCIL 
 
Mr. Smith presented the Council Budget.  There were decreases in overtime and fringes.  Otherwise, there were not 
a lot of changes. 
 
Mayor Walby gave a recap of this budget session as follows: 
 

• 10 Mile Sanitary Project in FY 2017 Budget 
• Service Department Appointments verify number 
• Grass cutting information as requested by Mr. Caron 
• Remove Salt Dome 
• Locate where in the budget $177,000 accounted for in the Computer Account 
• Engine out to bid by 6/30 
• Work with Police to reduce overtime 
• Look at the Fire roof and finding a vehicle for the Fire Marshall  
• Reprioritize Fire capital 
• Provide information on Fire and Police overtime 
• Look for decrease in radio fees in Fire Budget like Police 

 
2. AUDIENCE PARTICIPATION - None 
 
3. ADJOURNMENT 
 
Moved by Council Member Rusie, seconded by Council Member Caron to adjourn the meeting at 9:29 p.m.  
 
Ayes: All - 7 
 
 
 
___________________________________   __________________________________ 
KIP C. WALBY      MARY A. KOTOWSKI 
Mayor       City Clerk 
 
(THE PRECEDING MINUTES ARE A SYNOPSIS OF A CITY COUNCIL MEETING AND DO NOT REPRESENT A 
VERBATIM RECORD.) 
 


	City Council Budget Hearing, held in the Council Chambers, located at 27600 Jefferson Circle Dr., St. Clair Shores, Michigan.
	Present:  Mayor Kip Walby, Council Members Peter Accica, John Caron, Ronald Frederick, Peter Rubino and Candice Rusie
	Absent:  Council Member Chris Vitale
	2. AUDIENCE PARTICIPATION - None
	3. ADJOURNMENT


